INSTITUTE for STRATEGIC DIALOGUE

The Changing Geo-strategy of Turkey's Foreign Policy Along its Southern Border From Aspirations for Regional Integration to the need for Crisis Management

US

bul

Samsuno

TURKEY

Adana

Nico

IATOLI

ntaiya

PRUS

les

OSMAN BAHADIR DINÇER MEHMET HECAN

#### About this paper

This report is part of a four-part series that examines the threats posed to Turkey by regional instability, terrorism and extremism, and how the Turkish government has sought to manage or challenge these threats. The Institute for Strategic Dialogue is grateful to the Carnegie Corporation of New York for supporting the publication of this series.

#### About the authors

**Osman Bahadır Dinçer** is Director of the Center for Middle Eastern and African Studies at the Ankara-based International Strategic Research Organization (USAK), where he has been engaged in research since 2005. As a comparative political scientist, Dinçer has focused the majority of his research on Middle Eastern politics with particular reference to the state, violent/non-violent non-state actors, social and political movements, political development, democratization, and Turkish foreign policy. Recently he has concentrated his academic efforts on the various dimensions of the Syrian crisis. Dinçer has authored and co-authored numerous articles and reports on Middle Eastern politics for various national and international organizations, as well as for USAK itself. Prior to his doctoral studies at Bilkent University's Department of Political Science, Dinçer obtained a Master's Degree in International Relations from the School of International Service (SIS) at American University in Washington D.C., a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the Middle East Technical University in Ankara and an Arabic language certificate from Cairo University.

Mehmet Hecan is Research Fellow at USAK's Center for Middle Eastern and African Studies where he has engaged in research since 2013. Hecan's research interests include institutions and state in the Middle East, political economy of the Middle East, International Political Economy, International Financial Institutions and Development Economics. He currently pursues his graduate studies at the Middle East Technical University (METU) in Ankara. Hecan has a Bachelor's degree in Political Science and International Relations from Boğaziçi University. He was also an exchange student at the Department of Political Science in George Washington University during fall semester 2011.

#### Series editors

Dr James Kearney, Senior Programme Manager, Institute for Strategic Dialogue and Tanya Silverman, Project Coordinator, Institute for Strategic Dialogue

#### Cover photo

Syria By Rolffimages. Adobe Stock Photo ID: 12096048

© Institute for Strategic Dialogue, 2016.

This material is offered free of charge for personal and non-commercial use, provided the source is acknowledged. For commercial or any other use, prior written permission must be obtained from the Institute for Strategic Dialogue. In no case may this material be altered, sold or rented. The Institute for Strategic Dialogue does not generally take positions on policy issues. The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the organisation.

Designed and typeset by Soapbox, www.soapbox.co.uk

The Changing Geo-strategy of Turkey's Foreign Policy Along its Southern Border From Aspirations for Regional Integration to the need for Crisis Management

> OSMAN BAHADIR DINÇER Mehmet hecan



## Table of contents

1 Introduction	5
2 Migratory pressure and associated costs	7
3 Growing number of non-state actors: an era of 'statelessness' and radicalization	10
4 External involvement	13
5 Laying out an alternative policy agenda	16
6 A game theory approach to the refugee crisis: the vital need for a win-win dialogue	17
7 A security dialogue approach to growing terrorism: the vital need for mutual understanding	21
8 A de-escalation approach to unconstructive foreign involvement: the vital need for revision emphasizing the humanitarian dimension of the conflict	2.4
9 Conclusion	27
Endnotes	29

## 1 Introduction

The southern border of Turkey is of pronounced geostrategic importance as it constitutes the country's gateway to the Middle East through Syria and Iraq, two countries which represent an extension of Turkey's own human and physical geography. In the early 2000s, this geographical sphere was once seen as a site of opportunity, particularly in terms of its potential for economic and cultural integration with the rest of the region. However, following the Arab uprisings, it has, in time, transformed into an ongoing source of challenges that is characterized by unprecedented instability and turmoil and which have created severe disturbances for Turkey on various fronts. Most recently, the Ankara bombing on 17th February 2016 has once again shown the direct repercussions of the crisis that is occurring along Turkey's southern flank.

Turkey is now ensnared in myriad entanglements, extrication from which will require a new generation of crisis management systems that address: i) the mounting human tragedy unfolding south of its borders and the resultant migratory pressures that are profoundly felt in adjacent countries and, now, Europe; ii) the increasing number of non-state actors (terrorist organizations) that threaten not only regional but also international security; iii) the fierce power battle among numerous regional and international actors, including Iran, Saudi Arabia and Russia, among others, that is now raging within this sub-region for the first time in its recent history. Certainly, this final point is tantamount to the escalation of un-constructive involvement that has added to existing dilemmas rather than solving any of them. Indeed, in a region in which non-state actors are gaining strength in such a dramatic fashion, regional and global rivalries are swiftly intensifying on the basis of vastly varied interests, and unconstructiveness has become a widespread norm. The recent high-pitched intervention of Russia and the polarization between Tehran and Riyadh, as well as Turkey's efforts to salvage its tarnished image as an integral part of the relevant geopolitical network, have come to confirm that the regional crises will drag on. Turkey, having fallen into the throes of "crisis fatigue" as it tries to survive within this chaotic environment, is now facing geopolitical realities that it has not witnessed for a generation.

Previously governed by unilateral initiatives and bilateral arrangements, the sub-region now requires greater international and multilateral cooperative action, particularly with its Western partners, which Turkey must both lead and be a part of. It seems that the dismal happenings in Syria have all but shattered the image of not only the Arab Uprisings but also that of Turkey. Once called the "honest broker without a hidden agenda" in the Middle East, Turkey has now assumed the position of an isolated actor facing allegations that it is fueling the civil conflict and extending reckless support to questionable opposition groups in Syria; all this despite the fact that Turkey is an actor that is shouldering one of the greatest burdens of the humanitarian tragedy taking place in Syria. Even though Turkey's failing foreign policy in Syria has been recorded as a disgrace up until now, its potential to develop innovative peace building initiatives coupled with its desire to assume regional responsibility can work to reverse this downward course – at least in terms of how it is perceived.

## 2 Migratory pressure and associated costs

Beyond the thousands of deaths and injuries, unbridled waves of migration have become another major result of the warfare sweeping across Syria and, to a lesser extent, Iraq. According to UN estimates and local observers, the continuing crisis has caused the displacement of more than half of Syria's population. Beginning from September 2015, the displacement re-escalated with Russia's intervention, in a way shifting the balance in favour of the Assad regime. The most striking outcome of this was observed when tens of thousands of Syrians mobilized towards the border of Turkey as the regime launched operations to retake Aleppo's northern towns from opposition forces in collaboration with Russia, Iran, Hezbollah, and PYD/YPG forces.<sup>1</sup> However, this is not a recent or ephemeral phenomenon as millions of Syrians have been fleeing the conflict-ridden country in a systematic fashion since the onset of the conflict in 2011.<sup>2</sup>

In this context, countries in close proximity to the conflicts of the region are forced to shoulder a majority of the burden resulting from Syrians' quests for security, with many transforming into veritable open-air refugee camps. Turkey, which is affected most by the challenge of managing the huge waves of refugees, currently hosts almost 3 million Syrians, only 10% of whom are living in camps<sup>3</sup> while the rest find respite in urban areas across the country void of a well-planned monitoring mechanism. Although the refugee issue should be ideally assessed through the humanitarian prism first

and foremost, given both the current scope of the issue and its own political and economic difficulties, Turkey is faced with a phenomenon that can no longer be deemed as a temporary situation.<sup>4</sup> The issue must instead be treated as a catastrophic disaster with all its political, economic, societal, and legislative dimensions in order to reduce the likelihood of confrontation not only within the refugee community but also between Syrians and Turks.

Among the priorities, a proper answer must be found to the question of how will the integration of Syrians into Turkish society be ensured? Yet, the presence of refugees in Turkey will continue to present severe political risks no matter how they are integrated or provided citizenship. Security-related (crime or involvement with the PKK, ISIS, and other terrorist groups) and socio-cultural risks (societal tension, lack of access to education, or questionable marital practices such as child marriage and polygamy), both of which increase with each passing day, have become a sad fact. 53% of the refugees in Turkey are under the age of 18<sup>5</sup>, and the radicalization of these vulnerable and desperate youth has become a reality, as has been illustrated in multiple cases where the refugee population has been approached by various radical groups including ISIS. Moreover, the refugee issue is open to exploitation by many others, as seen in the fact that the perpetrators of the recent terrorist attacks in both Ankara and Istanbul were both carrying refugee identity cards, no matter whether authentic or forged.<sup>6</sup>

It is not acceptable to bar entrance to those fleeing to Turkey. At the same time, however, it must be realized that most urban refugees move across the country without being submitted to proper state regulatory measures and that some refugees have been misled into the lap of criminal groups such as human-smugglers or traffickers largely as a direct result of their desperation and hopelessness.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, authorities have, to a large extent, turned a blind eye to the very real possibility that societal tension could be incited by the ever growing presence of refugees; in other words, the authorities have underestimated the size of the problem for an extended period of time.<sup>8</sup>All in all, despite all of the genuine efforts on the part of Turkey, the current multifaceted crisis is far from what Turkey is currently capable of effectively handling. Moreover, those familiar with the nature of migration know well that refugees do not always regard the countries in which they first arrive as their final destination, but instead

generally use them as a temporary transit site or route from which to pass on to the countries they believe to be more prosperous. Such a reality is evidenced by increasing waves of refugees continually moving to and across Europe's borders. It can also be argued that the dynamics laid out above are being exploited by Russia and the Assad regime in what may be termed a 'demographic chaos strategy', the aim of which is to place pressure on Turkey and Europe so as to paralyze their will or ability to act in terms of contributing to the political solution to the Syrian conflict.

# 3 Growing number of non-state actors: an era of 'statelessness' and radicalization

Another acute problem along Turkey's southern border region is the growing number of non-state actors that have exploited the collapse of state authority and prevailing insecurity in Iraq and Syria, thereby spreading and fanning the flames of radicalization. This process in fact began its evolution in 2003 with the US invasion of Iraq and the subsequent unsuccessful attempts to install a new Iraqi state. In the aftermath of the Arab uprisings, the conflict in Syria later added to this as the country came to host and attract a great number of terrorist organizations. Such a dynamic fuelled a geopolitical shift that facilitated popular radicalization as these two countries were transformed into safe havens for various radical non-state actors and foreign fighters.9 Currently, the most attention-grabbing of these groups seem to be organizations such as ISIS and Al-Nursa. Yet, organizations like Northern Syria's PYD (The Democratic Union Party), which is seen by Turkey as an extension of the PKK, have also come onto the radar, employing coercion both "in the classical sense of terrorist activities" and "in the name of conquering physical territory".<sup>10</sup> For instance, since the start of the war, the PYD, with the help of the Assad regime and the PKK, has steadily increased its control over a large swathe of territory (encompassing 9% of Syrian territory in 2012 to 14% in 2016), though not united, stretching from Aleppo to Qamishli.<sup>11</sup> Over time, it has come to establish a monopoly of sorts, proclaiming itself as the sole

advocate of the Kurdish cause by intimidating or convincing other Kurdish and Arab groups through the employment of different means, including by assassinating influential leaders, just as the PKK had done in Turkey, and eventually by silencing all oppositional voices.<sup>12</sup>

At the end of the day, an unwelcome fait accompli has developed beyond Turkey's southern borders, forcing the country to neighbour undesirable actors (such as ISIS and the PYD). The Syrian crisis, particularly due to the weaknesses of border monitoring and its own domestic vulnerabilities, has made Turkey more open to the threat posed by terrorist groups. The war between ISIS and the PYD has now enlarged to include Turkey. What happened in Diyarbakir in 2014, just after the events at Kobani, is a clear indication of how vulnerable Turkey is to developments in Syria.<sup>13</sup> Moreover, the Suruç, Istanbul, and Ankara bombings in 2015 cannot be assessed without considering the turmoil in Syria and Turkey's failing Syria policy. This situation has manifested itself in a set of geopolitical circumstances to which Turkey is not accustomed, as it is normally used to working with states in stable environments. In this context, Turkey's apparent confusion about how to develop and implement policies against non-state actors such as ISIS and the PYD has been subject to criticism from abroad. For instance, with regard to the PYD/YPG, Turkey is faced with a Janus-faced dilemma: although the PYD is recognized by Ankara as a terrorist organization, it is acknowledged by many states as a 'legitimate' interlocutor on the ground as the most credible and effective ground force in the fight against ISIS.

Secondly, since 2011 the PYD is emphatically expanding its domination on the ground, and more recently, Turkey, which lost the advantage of open access to Syrian airspace after it downed a Russian jet, has been unable to halt the progress of the YPG. Moreover, because it is considered that Turkey's military and political struggle against the PYD will inherently help ISIS's regional ambitions, international actors have increasingly come to see Ankara's fight against ISIS as insincere. Therefore, recent developments<sup>14</sup> north of Aleppo during February 2016, as well as the negative perspectives of Turkey that are held by global actors, raise serious questions concerning whether or not Turkey's regional Kurdish policy is sustainable. In this sense, it can be expected that Ankara will face tougher problems with respect to the Kurdish issue, particularly in Syria, as long as the US and Russia's attitudes and the reality on the ground remain unchanged. Overall, recent happenings in Syria and Turkey compel Turkish authorities to clarify their policies toward the PYD which have been only loosely handled since 2011.

On the other hand, although different actors, especially the US, have taken a number of immediate measures by declaring that ISIS is a 'global threat', ISIS is also a great problem for Turkey particularly due to its close proximity to both Syria and Iraq. The main trouble for Western countries relates to the fact that their citizens who left to join ISIS may eventually return and potentially wreak havoc. Nonetheless, no one has a comprehensive and functioning road map on how to resolve the problems at the local level in Syria and Iraq, meaning that Turkey will continue to face this immediate threat to a much higher degree than most others. Beyond the lack of a strategy that takes political and sociological dimensions into account, the fight against ISIS has been carried out at the hands of the wrong actors and with the wrong methods. The increasing legitimacy of the PKK and PYD, which have even come to garner military support from Turkey's allies, will likely turn into a problem for Turkey, not the West, in the short and medium term. Being a latecomer to the coalition against ISIS and perceived of as not taking all the necessary measures to fight the group domestically, Turkey and its motives are now being questioned by many. In short, the situation of the PYD and ISIS, within the general context of the Syrian crisis, has created implicit and explicit tensions between Ankara and other global capitals.

## 4 External involvement

What renders Syria a site of turmoil is not only the numerous terrorist organizations or other non-state entities operating within its borders but also the increasingly unconstructive involvement of regional and international actors. Such intervention adds to the instability in the region as it is generally engaged in on an ad hoc basis that can be counterproductive. In addition to failing to resolve the core issues of the conflict, these operations significantly limit Ankara's room for maneuver. The challenge created here essentially stems from the exacerbation of two central dilemmas for Turkey, namely migratory pressure on the one hand and growing radicalization and the proliferation of terrorist organizations on the other.

It has long been known that the Gulf countries, the US, Iran, and Russia have been extending support to various parties to the conflict in Syria. However, beyond this shipment of support from abroad, an increasingly visible phenomenon of late can be seen in the fact that some actors, once offering support from abroad, are now actively involved in the conflict in Syria. In time, the Assad regime's loss of control in Syria brought about further and more aggressive support from some of these actors (i.e. Iran and Hezbollah). Most recently, Russia has been added to the mix as an active military partner of the regime. This increase of external involvement in favour of the regime has served to worsen the already tremendous humanitarian challenge in the country, leading to further deaths, more injuries, as well as both the internal and external displacement of a large portion of the Syrian population.<sup>14</sup> To illustrate, as a result of the advance of the regime forces with the help of Russian air strikes in February 2016, many of the civilians still residing in Aleppo have been killed or injured, and thousands were been forced to flee to the Turkish border to escape the violence.

Second, besides increasing the risk of further retaliatory involvement on the part of other actors, the unchecked involvement of Russia, Iran, and Hezbollah, which is primarily directed at the moderate Syrian opposition, suggests the emergence of a trend toward further radicalization. As there is a growing perception among Syrians that Western countries, including the US, have betrayed the Syrian opposition while the world just sits back and watches the brutality of the regime and its supporters, an increasing sense of mazlumiyye<sup>15</sup> and desperation in the country have changed the perception of radical terrorist organizations into a palatable solution to counter the regime and its associated brutalities in the eyes of the Syrian public.<sup>16</sup> Here, the loss of the moderate opposition on the ground benefits radical organizations the most as they are left as the only option to fight against the regime. The past record of the civil conflict already shows concrete evidence for this as the peaceful demonstrations requesting that Assad step down incrementally morphed into an armed conflict which then transformed into a fierce battle between the regime and the opposition. Such a context has facilitated radicalization as only radicals could survive, or alternately, moderates were compelled to radicalize to survive the increasing brutality of the conflict.<sup>17</sup>

The Turkish government views the growing use of proxies as a result of foreign involvement and, as such, something that aids the growth of belligerent non-state actors in the region. Specifically, the PYD/YPG, the Iraqi Shia militia, and other radical organizations and oppositional elements are being supported by regional and international actors for different purposes (for instance while the US extends support to PYD to fight against Deash, the same PYD is also being supported by Russia to weaken the Sunni Arab opposition). However, while there is an increasing tendency for actors to use proxies to change the power balances on the ground, this does not mean that they exert control over these proxies. What is worse, the situation risks pro-opposition countries, including Turkey, also utilizing proxies in the name of offsetting pro-regime support or the spread of the PYD/YPG. In the long-term this points to an overall lose-lose situation that perpetuates the civil conflict and increases the number and strength of proxies that will endanger the future of Syria even if a peace initiative is entered into and implemented.

Of all the external interventions in Syria, the one that is most resented by Turkey is that of Russia, particularly after the jet downing incident in November 2015. Following this episode, Russia, as the most proactive external player in the conflict, strictly limited its interaction with Turkey, and the depth and breadth of Turkey's engagement in Syria, including its provision of humanitarian assistance to those in need, its potential role and position in the peace talks, and its participation in the anti-ISIS coalition, has been dramatically reduced. Russia continues to extend support to the PYD/YPG, and bombs Syrian Turkomans in the name of punishing Turkey. In operational terms, this sort of Russian involvement aims to punish Turkey, symbolically and strategically. Turkey views Turkomans as an extension of its human geography on the one hand, and PYD as an extension of the terrorist organization PKK on the other. Also, many commentators see the influence of Russia as having added to an 'anti-Turkey' campaign in the region. In the aftermath of the warplane crisis, there have erupted a series of diplomatic rapprochements (at least at the level of rhetoric) between Russia and a number of countries with which Turkey has strained relations, including Iraq, Egypt, and Southern Cyprus.

# 5 Laying out an alternative policy agenda

Although this study focuses on Turkey's challenges in its southern border regions, both the explanations and policy recommendations that are laid out below should be considered in their larger contexts. The need for such an approach essentially stems from two aspects of the current environment. Firstly, be it migratory pressure, terrorist operations, or unconstructive involvement, the challenges faced by Turkey are not confined to particular localities. In other words, they have far-reaching implications for both regional and international actors. Secondly, Turkey's capacity to deal with these challenges is limited. This situation therefore necessitates cooperative action to be taken on the part of the international community. By all accounts, what is at stake is great, and given this, the policy agenda set out here will assess how to achieve international cooperation characterized by certain win-sets in the name of addressing the challenges that are present throughout the region.

# 6 A game theory approach to the refugee crisis: the vital need for a win-win dialogue

The migration issue is perhaps the area that requires cooperative action the most, particularly in the framework of Turkey-EU collaboration. A game theory approach serves to best illustrate that the lack of cooperative action in the realm of migration is highly likely to result in a situation deleterious to both Turkey and the EU. Yet on the other side of the coin, the positive pay-offs of cooperative action are plentiful, which explains why both the EU and Turkey must foster collaborative mechanisms to deal with the inflow of Syrian refugees. Today, whether the EU and Turkey will be successful in achieving cooperation, and even if they do in fact succeed in the end, whether they will be able to sustain cooperative mechanisms is a matter of question even though the parties have declared their intentions to work together. For this reason, it might be insightful to debate the potential positive/negative payoffs of cooperative/uncooperative action within this framework.

In the case that Turkey or the EU eschew cooperation and instead opt to pursue unilateral action, they will in effect be shifting the burden onto the other. To illustrate, uneager to shoulder the associated humanitarian costs any longer and keen to alleviate the heavy duty of caring for the nearly 3 million Syrians already residing within its territories, Turkey can skirt the necessary precautions meant to prevent refugees from passing to EU territories and thereby facilitate their inflow into the EU. Considering that, for most refugees, Turkey is only a transit country on the path to Europe and that the welfare system in the EU serves as a "strong magnet for poor migrants",<sup>18</sup> it is evident that Turkey would have no difficulty in indirectly promoting a life in Europe to Syrian refugees in Turkey.

Conversely, if the EU were to retaliate against Turkey, it would likely prevent the entrance of Syrian refugees into the EU and work to return those that made it across EU borders back to Turkey. Then, in such a scenario it is very likely that a lose-lose situation would ensue for both due to the highly evident negative pay-offs. In such a case, the potential human tragedy resultant of each side's refusal to host the destitute Syrians would definitely tarnish both Turkey and the EU's reputations, whether it be Europe's "welcoming culture" or Turkey's "Open-Door Policy". This would benefit neither the EU nor Turkey nor the affected Syrians as the refugees would become dehumanized, treated as ping pong balls that would seesaw between the EU and Turkey. Furthermore, such a situation would further work against the interests of Turkey as its accession to the EU would most likely be placed in jeopardy and it would be deprived the yearly economic aid pledged by the EU to take care of the Syrian refugees within its territory (approximately 3 billion Euros).<sup>19</sup> The EU on the other hand would also have to allocate more time and money to deal with various aspects of the mounting humanitarian tragedy (i.e. human smuggling, border control, settlement of illegal migrants, and caring for the injuries of thousands) considering the limited ability of the EU countries to stop the illegal arrival of the refugees and Turkey's patchy control over borders and coastal passages. The negative outcomes illustrated here show what kind of a common ground the EU and Turkey should agree upon so as to define the broadest mutual win-set. Such can be best achieved only by ensuring a plan and structure for the management of the Syrian refugee influx are agreed upon.

At this point, the nature of cooperation between Turkey and the EU is of crucial importance; in other words, the type of burden-sharing arrangement that the two parties agree upon will be decisive. Even though understanding the tit-for-tat nature of state behavior in a game theory framework is essential and useful in conveying why cooperation is needed with regard to the refugee issue, the refugee issue itself should not be turned into a matter of dirty politics and the relevant parties should not ignore their moral

19

responsibilities. Currently, Turkey hosts around 3 million Syrian refugees, whereas Europe is estimated to be hosting around 1 million.<sup>20</sup> While Turkey should do its best to prevent the Syrian refugees within its territory from traveling to the EU through illegal means, the EU should also put forth a stronger effort to host more Syrian refugees and to lighten the burden shouldered by Turkey in line with the two parties' capacities. An insightful analysis on this issue shows that the EU should host 3.5 times, 23 times, and 7 times as many Syrian refugees as Turkey based on its GDP per capita, overall GDP, and population respectively, when compared to the same figures of Turkey.<sup>21</sup>

On the other hand, it would be ironic for the EU and Turkey to fall out with one another due to a humanitarian tragedy that has been aggravated not by themselves but instead primarily by the Assad regime and its allies like Russia and Iran, as the latters' assaults, including those directly affecting the civilian population, have put pressure on Syrian inhabitants to flee their country. To illustrate, since the beginning of 2015 when Russia and Iran as well as Hezbollah increased their military involvement in Syria in favour of the regime the humanitarian tragedy in Syria has worsened. Throughout 2015, the number of refugees that Turkey claimed to be hosting skyrocketed, increasing from 1.5 million to 2.5 million. Moreover, by the end of 2015 the number of Syrians claimed asylum in the EU spiked to 897,000, whereas this number was only 235,000 at beginning of the same year.<sup>22</sup> Again, the total number of Syrians arriving in Greece from Turkey via the Aegean Sea in 2015 jumped to more than 850,000.<sup>23</sup>

Considering this, while continuing to cooperate to alleviate the refugee crisis, both the EU and Turkey should be mindful of how they are perceived to be handling the refugee crisis. Russia is arguably likely to have been using the refugee crisis as a "weapon" against the West considering that the country has strained relations with the EU and Turkey respectively after the former's enactment of sanctions on Russia following the Ukraine crisis and after the latter downed a Russian jet.<sup>24</sup> It is for this reason that, while dealing with the refugee crisis, both the EU and Turkey should not allow Russia to further exploit their accommodating policies while also working to prevent Moscow from turning the refugee crisis into a form of "punishment". This requires that both the EU and Turkey concentrate on the root cause of

the problem and put more political pressure on the regime and its allies to stop their military operations. In this sense, both parties, in coordination with the US, should consider options such as the establishment of a safe haven, the development of coordinated and complementary diplomatic rhetoric, and/or even the enactment of sanctions related to happenings in Syria. Given a pending peace process, the placement of political pressure should not morph into a full-fledged war against Russia and Iran, but should instead be kept on the agenda at least to convey the image that these options will remain on the table should any peace efforts be undermined by these actors. In this sense, it is unfortunate that Turkey and its Western partners have so far been very unsuccessful in fostering such political deterrence against the regime and its supporters. This issue in itself merits further in-depth study.

# 7 A security dialogue approach to growing terrorism: the vital need for mutual understanding

Another issue requiring cooperative action between Turkey and external actors is the growing number of non-state actors in the region. At this point, fighting ISIS and other like-minded terrorist organizations constitutes a central theme. However, the list of terrorist organizations engaging in the region is extensive, encompassing groups like the PYD/YPG and many other belligerent non-state actors.<sup>25</sup> Nonetheless, it is a great challenge to reach a consensus on which groups are and which groups are not considered radical or terrorist. The past record of the international coalition against ISIS already suggests that its own constituent countries, including Turkey, have not demonstrated a sincere commitment to the coalition. The core problem in this sense is that when the coalition partners are involved in military operations, they are guided by conflicting hierarchies of priorities and geopolitical interests. To illustrate the ineffectiveness of international coalitions in a broader sense, Russia's map of ISIS does not correspond to that observed by the US, and while making aerial campaigns, Russia generally exploits such discrepancies to weaken the moderate opposition forces vis-à-vis the Assad regime. In this vein, even Turkey has been accused of pursuing diverging interests, as the US has claimed that Turkey participates in coalition airstrikes to bomb PYD/PKK targets and not necessarily ISIS or other radical organizations.

However, a much more alarming situation, which in fact undermines the overall fight against terrorism, is the lack of security cooperation between actors such as the US, Turkey, and the EU which are generally thought to be partners. Such discord basically stems from the fact that the international and regional actors which should observe each other's security priorities fail to do so. The cases of the PYD/YPG and ISIS are quite telling in this regard in terms of illustrating the lack of security dialogue. Today, Turkey is at odds with the US and European stance, one that handles the PYD/YPG as a necessary ally in the fight against ISIS. On the other hand Turkey's Western allies are frustrated with Turkey's equivocal support in fighting radical terrorist organizations in the region. In other words, the actors' security engagements in the region are guided by subtly different priorities. There is an absolute need to amend these priorities to bring about a coherent policy versus ISIS. While Turkey should show more sincere effort to deal with growing radicalism and violence originating in Syria and Iraq (for example, by practicing tighter border control measures to prevent the movement of foreign fighters and terrorists), the US and EU should in turn be more sensitive to Turkey's concerns regarding the PYD/YPG (i.e. by halting their unchecked military support of these groups) and its discontent with the Western countries' formulation of foreign engagement towards the Syrian Kurds solely over PYD/YPG excluding other Kurdish groups bullied by the organization. In this way, only if a security dialogue based on mutual understanding among the partners is institutionalized can the fight against terrorism in the region be successful.

An ongoing problem is seen in the fact that in the absence of such a security dialogue the parties tend to establish cooperation with proxies on the ground rather than among themselves, a trend that further impedes high-quality security cooperation against terrorism in the first place. This situation points to the need for all sides to break the cycle and engage in qualified self-critique. For instance, while criticizing the US or Germany for supporting the PYD/YPG, Turkey should also question why the PYD/ YPG has become a devoted partner on the ground to those fighting ISIS, and consider the possibility that its own ambiguous commitment to the fight against ISIS and other radical terrorist organizations might have further driven the US and its other Western allies to align with the

PYD/YPG. Conversely, the US and other Western countries should question why Turkey and its Gulf allies are more generous in granting support to Syrian opposition groups regardless of Western concerns, and consider that their own inclination to turn a blind eye to the weakening of the moderate opposition might have sparked resentment in Turkey and the Gulf and therefore paved the way for growing radicalism under the extreme oppression of the Assad regime. This does not necessarily mean that the West should adopt Turkey's stance toward the PYD/YPG and Syrian opposition groups, or vice versa. The point is that without being captive to their established fears, at least from this point on, the parties should work together in a constructive way and foster a common understanding that observes all parties' concerns and interests. At this point, it should be noted that security dialogue particularly between Turkey and the US has been amicable in the past, both in terms of fighting PKK terrorism in Iraq (i.e. the establishment of a Trilateral Mechanism between Turkey, Iraq, and the US in 2008)<sup>26</sup> and in supporting the opposition in Syria in the aftermath of the Arab Uprisings. Yet, this has not been the case since 2013. With the challenges in the region becoming all the more difficult to surmount, the parties should show renewed efforts to establish such mechanisms as they had in the past by drawing upon already existent areas of cooperation.

# 8 A de-escalation approach to unconstructive foreign involvement: the vital need for revision emphasizing the humanitarian dimension of the conflict

Another challenge occurring in the region south of Turkey's border can be seen in the increasing amount of unconstructive foreign involvement. Devoid of the required military capacity, Turkey does not have the power to deter this involvement – its military capacity does not match that of Russia's, and its ability to lead a proxy war does not match that of Iran. In any case, the conflict in Syria necessitates de-escalation rather than the provocation of reciprocal military involvement. Considering the efforts to endorse peace in Syria, such as the formulation and implementation of a ceasefire and political road map, Turkey should act as a constructive partner in realizing what is needed rather than that which should be avoided; namely, it should work towards de-militarization of the conflict. For this reason Turkey should avoid a possible intervention in Syria in coalition with Gulf States, even if pre-agreed with the US. At a time when it has strained relations with Russia, which means that it is more vulnerable than ever in Syria, Turkey should continue to employ

25

non-intervention as its dominant strategy. Considering that memories of recent foreign interventions still linger, Turkey should uphold the principle of non-intervention.

At this point, while excluding itself from Syria militarily, Turkey is in a position to generate and carry forward two policy initiatives:

- 1 it should revise its long-maintained regime-change strategy and
- 2 it should take the lead in emphasizing the humanitarian dimension of the conflict, particularly as that dimension steadily worsens

The first revision can be seen as a requirement prompted by the shifting stances of Turkey's Western allies. Here, in the face of growing radical terrorist organizations, both European countries and the US have come to soften their previous positions which stipulated that Assad must immediately step down in order to facilitate peace in Syria. Well beyond the need for Turkey to simply synchronize its foreign policy with that of its partners, it must realize that in the absence of a whole-hearted international commitment to depose Assad, any realistic peace plan should regard the regime as a party to the resolution, at least in the shortterm. Also, in addition to the extensive military support that Assad is receiving from abroad, he is also receiving extensive political and diplomatic support, mostly in the form of Russia and China's veto power on the UN Security Council. This reality makes nearly any UN-endorsed peace initiatives that exclude Assad impossible. For these reasons, Turkey should synchronize itself with the new realities that inform the possibility of a Syrian peace plan. As a country which is no longer a bastion of regional stability, and amid rapidly proliferating conflict, Turkey should replace its long-held, self-defeating policy of gambling on regime change with the prioritization of stabilization and, ultimately, peace.

Along with de-militarization, another alternative policy option that Turkey should follow is emphasizing the humanitarian dimension of the conflict, as doing so would basically serve to offset the aforementioned perils of military escalation. As a party which desires not to be dragged into the conflict in Syria, an emphasis on the humanitarian dimension of the conflict would not only draw a new guiding framework for Turkey's engagement in the Syrian conflict, but also alleviate the perceptions that Turkey will militarily intervene in Syria (something occasionally articulated by Russia, the Assad regime and Iran). In the absence of a sufficient deterrent to the Assad regime's external supporters, emphasizing the humanitarian dimension of the conflict remains a viable option. In this way, Turkey along with its partners could stabilize refugee flows ahead and after a peace plan is implemented. The international perception that portrays the Middle East as an anarchic jumble already impacts the behaviour of the international community, pushing it to conceive of the current conflict in Syria not as a humanitarian tragedy but as part and parcel of a convoluted quagmire from which it is better to exclude oneself.<sup>27</sup> This puts the fate of Syria into the hands of a select few actors who primarily act within the bounds of a self-oriented *Realpolitik*, and prevents the involvement of others who could otherwise be able to constructively facilitate the essential peace-building process in Syria.<sup>28</sup> By humanitarianizing the conflict rather than further militarizing it, Turkey can attempt to break the streak of international stagnation by mustering partners to undermine the sporadic and dangerous interventions of Russia and Iran in Syria. Russia may be targeting opposition groups in an effort to essentially buy time for Assad and provide him with a stronger foundation and bargaining position post-conflict.

## 9 Conclusion

In stark juxtaposition to the heyday of Turkish foreign policy in the region that was witnessed in the early 2000s, the geopolitics of Turkey's southern border now offers very little in terms of opportunity and positive pay-offs while offering an abundance in terms of challenges and negative spillovers. Turkey has entered an era in which various crisis management systems should be developed particularly in the context of:

- 1 migration
- 2 the growing number of terrorist organizations and
- 3 the proliferation of incendiary regional and international foreign involvement.

Turkey has never faced such complex phenomena in the Middle East – a set of challenges that require a sophisticated response. Even though the challenges cited here primarily seem to concern Turkey, in fact their broader contexts concern Turkey's Western allies as well. Turkey does not possess the capacity to face these challenges on its own, nor does it have the option to avoid the negative spill-overs originating beyond its southern border by simply disengaging itself from the Middle East as it had done up until the 1990s. Given the existing expectation-capability gap, Turkey can only overcome the present challenges by establishing and acting as a convener and focal point for the establishment of an effective alliance. In this respect, a resolution to the tumult occurring south of Turkey's borders can best be found through: cooperation on the refugee crisis; promotion of a muchneeded security dialogue; de-militarization and the humanitarianization of the power battle in Syria and Iraq; a deepening of Turkey's security cooperation with state-level counterparts rather than proxies; and each party's re-evaluation of the sensitive realities on the ground.

#### Endnotes

- "Syrians flee to Turkish border as Aleppo assault intensifies", *Reuters*, February 6, 2016; www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-idUSKCN0VF087
- For the pattern of the increasing refugee influxes see UNHCR website: http://data.unhcr.org/ syrianrefugees/regional.php
- For the details about Syrian refugees in Turkey see the AFAD data: www.afad.gov.tr/tr/ IcerikDetay1.aspx?ID=16
- Osman Bahadur Dincer et al, "Turkey and Syrian Refugees: The Limits of Hospitality", USAK & Brookings Report, November 2013.
- This figure is probably much higher than 2013 now: "Syrian Refugees in Turkey, 2013: Field Survey Results", AFAD Reports, p. 24.
- "Istanbul suicide bomber 'registered as a refugee a week before attack'", *The Telegraph*, January 13, 2016; www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/europe/turkey/12097587/Istanbul-suicidebomber-registered-as-a-refugee-a-week-before-attack.html
- O. Ö. Demir et al, "Küreselleşen Dünyada "Satılık Göçmen Çocuklar", Global Politika ve Strateji Raporları 3, June 2015, pp. 26, 35
- This is one of the findings of the authors' first field work on refugees in Southeast Turkey in 2013.
- O. B. Dincer and M. Hecan, "Radikalizmde Jeopolitik Kayma" (In Turkish) Analist, Issue 54, August 2015, pp. 25–32
- O. B. Dincer and M. Hecan, "The Legacy of Statehood and its Looming Challenges in The Middle East and North Africa", *Valdai Paper 36*, November, 2015; http://valdaiclub. com/publications/valdai-papers/valdai-paper-36-the-legacy-of-statehood-and-its-loomingchallenges-in-the-middle-east-and-north-afri/ (November 30, 2015).
- 11. "Suriye'de rejim ve PYD topraklarını genişletti", Hürriyet, February 18, 2016.
- Based on authors' interviews with several Syrian locals in Southeast Turkey and Tel Abyad, January-February 2013.
- "Turkey Kurds: Kobane protests leave 19 dead", BBC News, October 8, 2014; www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-29530640

- "Thousands flee as Russian-backed offensive threatens to besiege Aleppo" *Reuters*, February 6, 2016. www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-aleppo-idUSKCN0VE0ZA.
- 15. Arabic term which means being suppressed.
- O. B. Dincer *et al.*, Defeating Daesh: Alternative Policy Options, USAK Report Commissioned by NATO – COE-DAT (unpublished). July 2015.
- 17. Interview with Bassma Kodmani, former spokeswoman of SNC, November, 13, 2014.
- F. Balanche "The Worst of the Syrian Refugee Crisis is Coming for Europe" *The Washington Institute*, www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/the-worst-of-the-syrian-refugeecrisis-is-coming-for-europe February 12, 2016.
- "Migrant crisis: EU approves 3 billion-euro fund for Turkey", BBC, February 3, 2016, www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-35486655
- Fatma Yılmaz-Elmas *et al*, "EU-Turkey Cooperation on the 'Refugee Crisis': Is it on the Right Track?", USAK Policy Brief, April 30, 2016, p. 5. The data in the brief draws on Frontex as of 2015.
- M. Kutlay. "Mülteci Krizi: AB'nin Derin Çelişkisi" (In Turkish). USAK; www.usak.org.tr/ tr/kose-yazilari/multeci-krizi-ab-nin-derin-celiskisi. February 11, 2016.
- 22. Balanche, 2016, see 19. Footnote.
- 23. Ibid.
- "NATO commander says Russia, Syria using migrant crisis as weapon" *Daily Mail*; www.dailymail.co.uk/wires/afp/article-3471729/NATO-commander-says-Russia-Syriausing-migrant-crisis-weapon.html, March 1, 2016.
- 25. It should be also noted the definition of terrorist organization is a challenging task in the context of Syria as its definition is highly subject to geopolitical interests of the parties to the Syrian conflict. For instance, following the Vienna Conference convened in November of 2015, which constitutes the ongoing roadmap for peace, Russia alone designated 160 groups as terrorist organizations, even though some of them are not regarded as such by the Gulf countries. Nevertheless, Syria hosts a significant number of belligerent groups with remarkably different orientations. For a discussion on this see: Osama Al Sharif, "Jordan's Syria blacklist blasted by key players" *Al-Monitor*, December 28, 2015.
- Saban Kardas, "Turkish-Iraqi-American Trilateral Security Mechanism Focuses on PKK Terrorism", *The Jamestown Foundation*, April 13, 2009; www.jamestown.org/single/?no\_ cache=1&tx\_ttnews%5Dt\_news%5D=34852#.Vz9X1vmLS70
- O. B. Dincer and M. Hecan. "Let's talk peace in Syria without waiting for Godot", *Journal of Turkish Weekly*. www.turkishweekly.net/2016/02/15/op-ed/lets-talk-peace-in-syria-without-waiting-for-godot/. (February 15, 2016).
- 28. Ibid.

Institute for Strategic Dialogue Registered charity number: 1076660 London, UK

Copyright © Institute for Strategic Dialogue (2016). All rights reserved.

Any copying, reproduction or exploitation of the whole or any part of this document without prior written approval from the Institute for Strategic Dialogue is prohibited. Institute for Strategic Dialogue is the operating name of the Trialogue Educational Trust.

www.strategicdialogue.org

Institute for Strategic Dialogue PO Box 7814, London United Kingdom, W1C 1YZ T: +44 (0)207 493 9333 info@strategicdialogue.org

#### INSTITUTE for Strategic Dialogue

Bospo

danelles

mir

www.strategicdialogue.org